# Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

5-29-2012

### Hall v. State Appellant's Brief Dckt. 38704

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### Nature Of The Case

This is a permissive appeal arising from two interlocutory orders entered by the district court during Erick Hall's pending capital post-conviction proceedings. This Court granted Mr. Hall permission to appeal three issues: (1) whether the district court is justified in ordering a second conflict inquiry where a conflict evaluation has already been conducted by an independent attorney, who found no conflict, the Petitioner does not raise a conflict, and neither the State nor the court can identify any facts that would give rise to a conflict; (2) whether the district court violates the separation of powers by ordering the State Appellate Public Defender (hereinafter SAPD) pay for services already provided under the statute designating the authority to provide conflict counsel specifically to the SAPD; and (3) whether an attorney-client privilege exists during the representation of a client, when communications pertain to a pending case on which the client is being represented by other attorneys.

#### Statement Of The Facts And Course Of Proceedings

During the course of Mr. Hall's post-conviction proceedings<sup>1</sup> the SAPD hired Dennis Benjamin—an independent attorney—to evaluate a possible conflict it might have in its

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> It is undisputed that a jury found Erick Hall guilty of Murder in the First Degree and Rape, in Ada County Case No. H0300624 (hereinafter "Hall II"). (R.38528/38704, pp.10, 54.) It is also undisputed that after a special sentencing hearing pursuant to I.C. § 19-2515, the judgment and sentence of death were pronounced on January 3, 2008, by the Honorable Thomas F. Neville, District Judge of the Fourth Judicial District, in Ada County, Boise, Idaho. (R.38528/38704, pp.10, 55.) On February 14, 2008, Mr. Hall filed a timely petition for post-conviction relief pursuant to I.C. §19 1719, which initiated these capital post-conviction proceedings. (R.38528/38704, p.9.) Mr. Hall also stands convicted and sentenced to death for the murder of Lynn Henneman, Ada County Case No. H0300518, (hereinafter "Hall I.") (R.38528/38704, pp.10 n.1, 11, 54.) It is undisputed by the parties that the SAPD represented Mr. Hall in the "Hall I post-conviction proceedings during the time that Rob Chastain and Deborah Kristal represented the Petitioner in the present case, including during Mr. Chastain and Ms. Kristal's

representation of Mr. Hall. (Ex Parte Notice of Possible Conflict of Interest (Filed Under Seal), filed June 29, 2010<sup>2</sup> (hereinafter Ex Parte Notice).) Mr. Benjamin was contracted by the SAPD to conduct a review and advise Mr. Hall on the matter. (Affidavit of Dennis Benjamin (Filed Under Seal), filed August 30, 2010<sup>3</sup> (hereinafter Benjamin Affidavit), ¶ 5.) Mr. Benjamin obtained a complete waiver of the attorney-client privilege from Mr. Hall with respect to the SAPD, and had unfettered access to the SAPD's files and communications. (Benjamin Affidavit, ¶¶ 5. 8.) He conducted interviews with all of the parties involved and reviewed the relevant legal pleadings. (Benjamin Affidavit, ¶ 7.) Mr. Benjamin met with Mr. Hall and informed him of the findings from his exhaustive investigation. (Benjamin Affidavit, ¶ 5.) Mr. Benjamin determined there was no conflict and informed the court of his evaluation and finding by affidavit. (Benjamin Affidavit, ¶ 10.)

The SAPD currently represents Mr. Hall on both Hall I and Hall II, on direct appeal and in post-conviction proceedings. (R.38528/38704, p.11.) After the SAPD was appointed on Hall I in January of 2005, Hall II had not yet gone to trial and Mr. Hall was represented by separate counsel. During that period of overlapping representation, there were numerous communications between Mr. Hall's attorneys at the SAPD and his trial attorneys. Those communications included meetings and discussions, as well as information-sharing regarding experts in furtherance of their concurrent representation. (See R.38528/38704, p.1338.) These contacts were the reason the SAPD hired Mr. Benjamin to perform a conflict evaluation. *Id.* Mr. Hall's SAPD attorneys during the relevant time were Mark Ackley and Paula Swensen. (R.38528/38704, p.1337.) Both of these attorneys had left their employment at the SAPD before

preparation for this case, the trial itself and the capital sentencing proceedings." (R.38528/38704, p.1289; also see p.11.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Appears as an exhibit to the Clerk's Record. (See R.38528/38704, p.2043.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Appears as an exhibit to the Clerk's Record. (See R.38528/38704, p.2043.)

the *Ex Parte* Notice was filed. (2/3/2009 Tr.38528/38704, p.34, Ls.14-18 (Ms. Swensen left the SAPD in July of 2008); R.38528/38704, p.1241 (Mr. Ackley left the SAPD in April of 2010).) Mr. Hall's trial attorneys in Hall II were Rob Chastain and Deb Kristal. (R.38528/38704, p.10.) After Mr. Hall was convicted and sentenced on Hall II, the SAPD was also appointed to represent him on that case. (R.34890 Vol. VII, pp.1301-02.)

When the SAPD hired Mr. Benjamin to conduct a conflict evaluation, it notified the court by way of its *Ex Parte* Notice that a conflict review was underway, and Mr. Benjamin had been hired to handle it. (*Ex Parte* Notice, p.3.) A month later, without any knowledge of the *Ex Parte* Notice, the State filed a separate motion requesting a judicial inquiry into any possible conflict that may exist. (R.38528/38704, pp.1288-90.) The Court granted that motion for inquiry before ever hearing from Mr. Benjamin as to his findings and assessment. (8/26/2010 Tr.38528/38704, p.295, Ls.1-3.) The district court noted that hearing from Mr. Benjamin would not be helpful until the court had decided whether a conflict existed. (*Id.*, p.297, Ls.9-11.) Mr. Benjamin subsequently filed his affidavit detailing his investigation and conclusion that there was no conflict. (Benjamin Affidavit.)

#### Memorandum Decision and Order Appointing Keith Roark as Independent Conflict Counsel

After reviewing Mr. Benjamin's affidavit, the district court issued its Memorandum Decision and Order Appointing Keith Roark as Independent Conflict Counsel (hereinafter *Order*). (R.38528/38704, pp.1368-78.) In its *Order*, the district court admitted it was "presently lacking the factual background necessary" to reach its own conclusion as to whether a conflict actually existed. *Id.* at 1374. Instead, the *Order* appointed a second attorney to evaluate whether a conflict existed and to advise the court on the matter. The district court's order held that no privilege existed between the SAPD and Mr. Hall during the relevant period regarding Hall II.

*Id.* at 1375. At the same time, the district court acknowledged there was a privilege between the SAPD and Mr. Hall with regard to information or communications concerning Hall I. *Id.* 

The court ordered any attorney-client privilege between Mr. Roark and Mr. Hall waived to the extent necessary for Mr. Roark to report to the Court "(1) whether a conflict exists; (2) if so, the general nature of the conflict; (3) the facts surrounding or underlying the conflict; and (4) whether independent counsel believes that such conflict may be imputed to the entire SAPD's office." *Id.* at 1376. Finally, although the SAPD had already paid for Mr. Benjamin's representation of Mr. Hall, the Court ordered the SAPD to also pay for Mr. Roark's work. *Id.* at 1377.

Memorandum Decision and Order Denying the Motion to Reconsider; and Supplementing the Original Decision and Order

After Mr. Hall filed a *Motion to Reconsider Memorandum Decision and Order* (R.38528/38704, pp.1379-414), the district court issued its *Memorandum Decision and Order Denying the Motion to Reconsider; and Supplementing the Original Decision and Order* (hereinafter, *Supplemental Order*) on February 23, 2011. (R.38528/38704, pp.1965-74.) In the *Supplemental Order*, the district court clarified certain aspects of its original order. The *Supplemental Order* authorized Mr. Roark to view the files of the SAPD even in the absence of a waiver from Mr. Hall. (R.38528/38704, p.1969). In addition, the district court ordered that all employees and attorneys at the SAPD be ordered to cooperate with Mr. Roark during the course of his investigation, regardless of any attorney-client privilege or rule of confidentiality that may exist, because Idaho Rule of Professional Conduct (hereinafter IRPC) 1.6(b)(6) allows counsel to breach protections in order to comply with a court order. (R.38528/38704, pp.1969-70.)

#### **ISSUES**

- 1. Whether The District Court Was Justified In Ordering A Second Conflict Inquiry Where A Conflict Evaluation Had Already Been Conducted By An Independent Attorney Who Found No Conflict, The Petitioner Did Not Raise A Conflict, And Neither The State Nor The Court Can Identify Any Specific Facts That Would Either Undermine Those Determinations Or Give Rise To A Conflict?
- 2. Whether The District Court Violated The Separation Of Powers By Ordering The SAPD To Pay For Services Already Provided Under The Statute Designating The Authority To Provide Conflict Counsel Specifically To The SAPD Where There Is No Evidence The SAPD Or Independent Counsel Failed To Satisfy Their Obligations?
- 3. Whether The District Court Erred In Ordering The Disclosure Of Confidential And Attorney Client Privileged Information In Furtherance Of An Unjustified Second Conflict Inquiry?

#### ARGUMENT

Ī.

The District Court Erred In Ordering A Second Conflict Inquiry Where A Conflict Evaluation
Had Already Been Conducted By An Independent Attorney Who Found No Conflict, The
Petitioner Did Not Raise a Conflict, And Neither The State Nor The Court Can Identify Any
Facts That Would Either Undermine Those Determinations Or Give Rise To A Conflict

#### A. Introduction

Mr. Hall has both a constitutional and statutory right to conflict-free counsel on direct appeal and in his initial post-conviction in a capital case. Mr. Benjamin has determined, and represented to the court, there is neither an actual conflict nor reason to believe a conflict exists. In this instance, the SAPD's *Ex Parte* Notice is supplanted by Mr. Benjamin's affidavit. In that affidavit, Mr. Benjamin found no actual conflict arose from the contacts which led the SAPD to file its original *Ex Parte* Notice. In addition, in an abundance of caution, Mr. Benjamin explained no conflict that could possibly exist would be of a nature requiring the conflict to be imputed to other SAPD attorneys. Under these circumstances, the district court has no basis to order a second conflict inquiry by Mr. Roark.

#### B. Right To Conflict-Free Counsel Where Actual Conflicts Exist

Even though in the present case Mr. Benjamin's independent evaluation revealed that no actual conflict exists, the district court's duty to inquire is rooted in a defendant's right to conflict-free counsel. A criminal defendant has a Sixth Amendment and Due Process right to conflict-free representation at trial and on appeal. See State v. Severson, 147 Idaho 694, 703 (2009) (citing Wood v. Georgia, 450 U.S. 261, 271 (1981)), also see Douglas v. California, 372 U.S. 353 (1963), Evitts v. Lucey, 469 U.S. 387 (1985). Idaho appellate courts have also recognized a statutory right to post-conviction counsel for non-frivolous claims, as opposed to a constitutionally grounded right. Charboneau v. State, 140 Idaho 789, 793 (2004); Plant v. State,

143 Idaho 758, 761 (Ct. App. 2006); see also I.C. § 19-852(b); I.C. § 19-4904. However, even in the absence of a constitutional right to post-conviction counsel, Idaho appellate courts have still acknowledged a petitioner's constitutional right to post-conviction representation unmarred by conflict. See Fields v. State, 135 Idaho 286, 289-90 (2000) ("Because these facts do not identify a conflict other than the one related to the trial, they also fail to support the claim of ineffectiveness of appellate/post-conviction counsel as a result of a conflict of interest.").

Elsewhere, the Supreme Court has recognized, a statutory constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel. In *Smith v. State*, 146 Idaho 822 (2009), the Supreme Court considered whether a criminal defendant had a protected right to the effective assistance of counsel at Violent Sexual Predator (VSP) hearing board determination and on appeal from that decision. Like post-conviction cases, because the hearing and appeal were "civil in nature, there is no constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel." *Id.* at 833. However, because the right to counsel was provided by statute, the Supreme Court found a statutory right to effective assistance of counsel.<sup>4</sup> *Id.* The Court concluded that because "there is a statutory right to effective assistance of counsel" the "appropriate analysis is by reference to the well-established standards governing such claims under the Sixth Amendment." *Id.* at 834. Here, the same extension of a Sixth Amendment analysis of conflict-free counsel should apply regardless of whether the guarantee of counsel is by statute or by a constitutional right.

0

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> "This statutory right to counsel would be a hollow right if it did not guarantee the defendant the right to effective assistance of counsel." *Smith v. State*, 146 Idaho at 833 (quoting *Hernandez v. State*, 127 Idaho 685, 687 (1995)). Consequently, the Court found there was no "legitimate basis" to evaluate an effective assistance of counsel claim any differently based on whether the right to counsel was guaranteed by statute or by the constitution. *Id.* at 833-34. It should also be noted that because the SAPD acts concurrently as both appellate and post-conviction counsel, it would be almost impossible to divide the SAPD's representation at any point in time as constitutionally required (as on direct appeal), or statutorily mandated (during initial post-conviction).

The critical issue in identifying whether a conflict of interest exists lies in determining if the interests of counsel conflict with his or her client's interest, thereby compromising counsel's duty of loyalty. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 688, 692 (1984) (recognizing that counsel who labors under an actual conflict of interest breaches the duty of loyalty to his or her client, which is "perhaps the most basic of counsel's duties."). The United States Supreme Court has drawn a distinction between actual and theoretical conflicts of interest, finding that "an actual conflict of interest' meant precisely a conflict that affected counsel's performance—as opposed to a mere theoretical division of loyalties." *Mickens v. Taylor*, 535 U.S. 162, 171 (2002)(emphasis in original). That Court held "an 'actual conflict,' for Sixth Amendment purposes, is a conflict of interest that adversely affects counsel's performance." *Id.* at 172 n.5. This Court has stated an actual conflict of interest involves counsel actively representing conflicting interests. *See Dunlap v. State*, 141 Idaho 50, 62 (2004) (citing *State v. Wood*, 132 Idaho 88, 98 (1998)). As summarized by the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals:

In several cases in which the Supreme Court has defined the right to conflict-free counsel, the defense attorney actively and concurrently represented conflicting interests. In those cases, the Court created, in effect, a distinction between an actual conflict of interest, and a mere hypothetical one . . . [T]he Sixth Amendment does not protect against a "mere theoretical division of loyalties." Rather, it protects against conflicts of interest that adversely affect counsel's performance. Indeed, in *Mickens*, the Court held that "actual conflict" is defined by the effect a potential conflict had on counsels performance. In *Mickens*, the Court explained, "[A]n actual conflict of interest [means] precisely a conflict that affected counsel's performance—as opposed to a mere theoretical division of loyalties."

Alberni v. McDaniel, 458 F.3d 860, 870 (9th Cir. 2006) (citations omitted); see also United States v. Tatum, 943 F.2d 370, 375 (4th Cir. 1991) ("More than a mere possibility of a conflict, however, must be shown. The Sixth Amendment is implicated only when the representation of counsel is adversely affected by an actual conflict of interest."). Accordingly, while a trial court has a duty to inquire into a potential conflict of interest, "a trial court may not disqualify counsel

on the basis of speculation or conjecture. . . ." *People ex rel. Woodard v. Dist. Ct.*, 704 P.2d 851, 853 (Col. 1985). In the instant case, the district court has effectively disqualified Mr. Benjamin as Mr. Hall's counsel for the limited issue of advising him on any potential conflict and replaced him with Mr. Roark, based on the district court's speculation and conjecture that Mr. Benjamin's evaluation, advice and counsel are not impartial.

The appropriate appellate standard of review in this case is the same as would apply when constitutional issues are presented. "The adequacy of the inquiry into a conflict of interest is a constitutional issue over which this Court exercises free review. *See State v. Statton*, 136 Idaho 135, 136, 30 P.3d 290, 291 (2001)." *State v. Lopez*, 139 Idaho 256, 259 (Ct. App. 2003).

#### C. The Extent Of District Court's Duty To Inquire Based On Easing Defendant's Concern

Mr. Hall acknowledges the "trial court has an affirmative duty to inquire into a potential conflict whenever it knows or 'reasonably should know that a particular conflict may exist." State v. Severson, 147 Idaho 694, 703 (2009) (quoting State v. Lovelace, 140 Idaho 53, 60 (2003) (emphasis added)). Because the possibility of a conflict was raised by Mr. Hall's counsel alone, and not by Mr. Hall, each of the conflict cases argued before the district court below present facts significantly different from those presented here.

The case of *State v. Severson*, 147 Idaho 694 (2009), presents an extensive discussion of the court's obligation to conduct a "thorough and searching" conflict examination. *Id.* at 704. However, in that case, Mr. Severson had been appointed counsel at trial "despite Severson's objection that he had a conflict of interest" and had argued himself that "the appointment of [counsel] violated his right to be represented by conflict-free counsel." *Id.* at 701. This Court made clear that "because Severson had objected to the conflict of interest at trial, the court had an affirmative duty to inquire into the potential conflict." *Id.* at 704 (emphasis added). In light of that crucial fact, this Court indicates the trial court "must make the kind of inquiry that might

ease the defendant's dissatisfaction, distrust, or concern." Id. (quoting Smith v. Lockhart, 923 F.2d 1314, 1320 (8th Cir. 1991) (emphasis added)). Here, Mr. Hall has not made an objection, requested different counsel, or shown any dissatisfaction, distrust, or concern about his representation by the SAPD after being fully advised on the issue by an independent attorney.<sup>5</sup>

In Severson, this Court also relied on State v. Lovelace, 140 Idaho 53 (2003). In Lovelace, the prosecution first moved that defense counsel be disqualified because of a conflict with his ongoing campaign to seek the position of county prosecutor. *Id.* at 59. Lovelace later filed a motion to dismiss his trial counsel "due to a possible future conflict of interest" and requested he be allowed to proceed pro se. Id. Although the court refused to appoint new counsel at that time, a new lawyer was appointed once his original attorney was sworn in as county prosecutor. Id. In Lovelace, this Court noted "whenever a trial court knows or reasonably should know that a particular conflict may exist, the trial court has a duty of inquiry." Id. at 60 (emphasis added). This Court found, "Lovelace provided no facts to suggest that counsel allowed anything adversely to affect his representation", concluding "the district court's denial of relief on the conflict of interest claim was proper." Id. at 61-62. This Court's findings acknowledged the district court and the State were aware of circumstances that could appear to present a conflict, but there had been no suggestion that the attorney's representation was compromised. In light of Mr. Benjamin's affidavit, the same rationale applies in the instant case. Mr. Benjamin acknowledged contacts between SAPD attorneys and trial counsel, but neither the State nor the district court identify facts to suggest the SAPD's representation of Mr. Hall has

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> In its holding, the Idaho Supreme Court refused to find that a conflict existed where another public defender who worked in the same office as Mr. Severson's trial counsel, had represented the mother of the victim in a civil suit directly relating to Mr. Severson's criminal case. *Id.* at 701. The facts presented in Mr. Benjamin's affidavit do not reveal any type of personal interest that would be comparable to the facts in *Severson*. (*See* Benjamin Affidavit, ¶¶ 6, 10, 11, 12.)

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