# UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

8-28-2012

# Hall v. State Respondent's Brief Dckt. 38704

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

Finally, as is oft repeated by the capital defense bar:

[T]he penalty of death is qualitatively different from a sentence of imprisonment, however long. Death, in its finality, differs more from life imprisonment than a 100-year prison term differs from one of only a year or two. Because of that qualitative difference, there is a corresponding difference in the need for reliability in the determination that death is the appropriate punishment in a specific case.

Lankford v. State, 500 U.S. 110, 125 n.21 (quoting Woodson v. North Carolina, 428 U.S. 280, 305 (1976) (footnote omitted)).

Based upon the SAPD's *Ex Parte* Notice and the pleadings subsequently filed by the respective parties, coupled with heightened standards of review in capital cases, the district court had a duty to inquire regarding the possibility of a potential conflict of interest stemming from the SAPD's contact with Hall's trial attorneys in Hall II.

## E. <u>The District Court Was Permitted To Establish The Parameters Of Its Inquiry Into</u> The "Possible Conflict Of Interest" Raised In the SAPD's *Ex Parte* Notice

"In order to satisfy the inquiry requirement, a trial court's examination of the potential conflict **must be thorough and searching** and should be conducted on the record. The court must make the kind of inquiry that might ease the defendant's dissatisfaction, distrust or concern." <u>Severson</u>, 215 P.3d at 424 (emphasis added)

(internal quotations and citations omitted). The inquiry must also be "'targeted at the conflict issue." <u>State v. Lopez</u>, 139 Idaho 256, 259, 77 P.3d 124 (Ct. App. 2003) (quoting <u>Selsor v. Kaiser</u>, 81 F.3d 1492, 1501 (10<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1996)). While trial courts are "entitled to rely on representations made by counsel," they "may inquire further into the facts." <u>Id.</u> (citing <u>Kaplan v. United States</u>, 375 F.2d 895, 897 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1967)).

Because the SAPD's Ex Parte Notice was, as conceded by counsel, "not very specific," "opaque," and "didn't include any facts" (Tr., pp.241-42), the trial court was not able to "target" the exact concern being raised by the SAPD. Undoubtedly, the district court's concern was piqued by the concession that the "SAPD cooperated with trial counsel in Hall II by sharing testing and expert information obtained in Hall I" (Ex Parte Notice, p.2), particularly in light of the claims in the amended post-conviction petition that challenged trial counsels' effectiveness regarding testing and expert witnesses (R., pp.177-83, 221-26, 241-45). Moreover, the SAPD's assertion that "Ms. Romero became aware that Mr. Ackley and/or Ms. Swenson may have had contact with trial counsel and that contact may present a conflict of interest in the SAPD's continued representation of Mr. Hall" (*Ex Parte* Notice, pp.2-3) would have caused the district court significant consternation, resulting in the conclusion that there was even more "contact" between the SAPD and trial counsel than sharing of "testing and expert information." This is particularly important because the amended petition raised an ineffective assistance of counsel claim that was based upon a "complete breakdown in the attorneyclient relationship" (R., pp.121-22), which could have been exacerbated by contact with the SAPD. Indeed, the SAPD was concerned enough that Benjamin was retained to "independently evaluate the conflict" and "advise Mr. Hall whether or not a conflict

should be waived." (Id., p.3.) Moreover, the SAPD conceded the filing of the *Ex Parte* Notice "has to cause the Court some concern." (Tr., p.284.)

The district court's concern obviously was not alleviated by the SAPD's Amended Notice of Possible Conflict of Interest (R., pp.1336-40), but actually increased the necessity of conducting a "thorough and searching inquiry." For example, discussing the "contact" that "may present a conflict of interest," the SAPD merely explained there were "numerous contacts between trial counsel and post-conviction counsel" that occurred "[o]ver the course of several months," which included: (1) e-mails, "primarily" between Ackley and Kristal; (2) phone calls between Ackley and Kristal or Chastain; (3) at least two meetings "where all attorneys were present"; and (4) additional contacts with SAPD staff to facilitate the exchange of information regarding testing and experts. (R., p.1338.) Because the SAPD explained the *Ex Parte* Motion "was filed due to the **extent** of the communications between counsel" (id.) (emphasis added), this was not *de minimus* contact, and the district court had every right to be concerned and want further inquiry.

Likewise, Benjamin's affidavit would not have alleviated the district court's concerns because it also failed to discuss the nature of the communication between the SAPD and trial counsel, merely explaining, "The conflict issue centers around the communication between former SAPD lawyers, i.e., Paula Swenson and Mark Ackley, and Mr. Hall's trial lawyers, i.e., Robert Chastain and Deborah Kristal, before and during the second trial." (Benjamin Affidavit, p.2.) Rather than explain the genesis of the SAPD's concern regarding the "extent of the communications between counsel" that generated the *Ex Parte* Notice, Benjamin merely explained when the "communication could result in a conflict of interest" (R., p.2) and that "there is no conflict of interest"

(Id., p.4). Nevertheless, despite his conclusion regarding the existence of a conflict, Benjamin noted there was one exception where it "appears one of the former SAPD lawyers gave advice to the trial lawyers to take a certain action." (Id., p.5.) While Benjamin concluded there was still no conflict even though the "trial lawyers took that advice and the result was favorable to Mr. Hall" (id.), there is no indication regarding the nature or subject matter of the advice that would permit the trial court to make its own determination regarding the existence of a conflict of interest.

Hall's primary complaint stems from the district court's decision to appoint Roark to conduct an investigation regarding the possibility of a conflict of interest raised in Hall's *Ex Parte* Notice. (Brief, pp.11-16.) While the state certainly appreciates the SAPD's desire to conserve resources by forcing the district court to merely rely upon the investigation and representations of Benjamin, the court's duty to conduct a "thorough and searching" inquiry cannot be abrogated and given to an attorney retained by the very entity that may have precipitated the alleged conflict; it is the court's inquiry, not counsels' or someone chosen by counsel. As explained in <u>Harjo v. Reynolds</u>, 894 F.Supp. 1496, 1501 (N.D. Okla. 1995):

The *Holloway* court denied the suggestion it was transferring to defense counsel the authority of the trial judge to rule on the existence or risk of a conflict and to appoint separate counsel. It said "our holding does not preclude a trial court from exploring the adequacy of the basis for defense counsel's representations regarding a conflict of interests without improperly requiring disclosure of the confidential communications of the client." *Id.* at 487, 98 S.Ct. at 1180. The Court also noted the trial court could discipline counsel who presented such motions for dilatory purposes.

See also <u>Cuyler</u>, 446 U.S. at 347 ("Unless **the trial court** knows or reasonably should know that a particular conflict exists, the court need not initiate an inquiry") (emphasis added).

The state recognizes "[a]n attorney . . . is in the best position professionally and ethically to determine when a conflict of interest exists or will probably develop in the course of a trial," Holloway, 435 U.S. at 485 (internal quotations and citation omitted), that defense attorneys "are officers of the court, and when they address the judge solemnly upon a matter before the court, their declarations are virtually made under oath," id. at 486, and that "trial courts necessarily rely in large measure upon the good faith and good judgment of defense counsel," Cuyler, 446 U.S. at 347. See also United States v. Crespo de Llano, 838 F.2d 1006, 1012 (9th Cir. 1988) (internal quotations and citation omitted) ("In ascertaining whether the risk of conflict warrants appointment of separate counsel, the court is entitled to rely on the good faith and good judgment of defense counsel who represents to the court that no conflict exists"). However, while courts may rely upon the representations of counsel. "[a] court may inquire further into the facts." Severson, 147 Idaho at 704. Indeed, the Ninth Circuit has explained, "it is good practice for a trial judge to make inquiry when the possibility of a conflict of interest seems apparent." Willis v. United States, 614 F.2d 1200, 1206 (9th Cir. 1979).

As explained in <u>Garcia v. Bunnell</u>, 33 F.3d 1193, 1199 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1994), "the trial judge here should have conducted his own neutral inquiry as soon as he heard [counsel's] disclosure, in order to reach his own informed judgment." When presented with a possible conflict of interest claim, "at a minimum the trial court should have requested that [counsel] give him some idea of what the conflict entailed to allow him to determine

19

whether to order [counsel] to withdraw." <u>United States v. DeRobertis</u>, 771 F.2d 1057, 1063 (7<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1985). As explained in <u>Hamilton v. Ford</u>, 969 F.2d 1006, 1012-13 (11<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1992), the mere reading of a file and colloquy with defense counsel may not be sufficient inquiry. Moreover, the need to conduct a thorough and searching inquiry "does not preclude a trial court from exploring the adequacy of the basis of defense counsel's representations regarding a conflict of interest without improperly requiring disclosure of the confidential communications of the client." <u>Holloway</u>, 435 U.S. at 487.

The difficulties of this inquiry and the determination that an attorney must be disqualified due to a conflict of interest are discussed in <u>United States v. Evanson</u>, 584 F.2d 904, 911 (10<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2009). The Tenth Circuit recognized "the need for appellate courts to be highly deferential to the trial judge's judgment" because

[d]isqualification motions . . . are not assessed "with the wisdom of hindsight after the trial has taken place, but in the murkier pre-trial context when relationships between the parties are seen through a glass, darkly." To assess "[t]he likelihood and dimensions of nascent conflicts of interest," the courts must predict how events will unfold at trial, a daunting task that can require an exercise of "instinct and judgment based on experience."

Id. (quoting Wheat v. United States, 486 U.S. 153, 162-63 (1988)). Therefore, the "facts and circumstances of each case . . . must be left to the informed judgment of the trial

court" because

[c]ourts confronting potential conflicts of interest face the prospect of being whip-sawed by assertions of error no matter which way they rule. If a court disqualifies counsel, the defendant can raise . . . a claim that he was denied his Sixth Amendment right to chosen counsel. But if the court declines to disqualify counsel, the defendant may claim that his counsel's conflict of interest resulted in constitutionally ineffective performance at trial.

Id. (internal quotes and citations omitted).

Hall's final complaint stems from his contention that "any possible conflict created by actions taken by Ms. Swenson or Mr. Ackley could not be imputed to Mr. Hall's current post-conviction counsel at the SAPD." (Brief, pp.14-15.) However, Hall is arguing the proverbial "cart before the horse"; the issue is not whether a conflict exists or the nature of the alleged conflict, but the nature of the **inquiry** that must be conducted to determine the existence of a conflict. As explained by the Idaho Supreme Court:

Once a court conducts an inquiry, it must determine whether a conflict actually exists. If the court concludes defense counsel does have a conflict, it must obtain a knowing and voluntary waiver from the defendant or give the defendant an opportunity to acquire new counsel. If on the other hand, the court concludes that a conflict of interest does not exist, the representation may continue without a waiver.

Severson, 147 Idaho at 704 (internal citations omitted).

Moreover, if the underlying basis for the SAPD's *Ex Parte* Notice was nothing more than contact between Hall's trial attorneys in Hall II and former employees of the SAPD while representing Hall in Hall I post-conviction proceedings and it is Hall's position that such contact did not amount to a potential conflict of interest, why did the SAPD file the *Ex Parte* Notice and retain Benjamin to determine whether an actual conflict exists? Clearly, neither the SAPD nor Benjamin has adequately explained the underlying basis of the contact that resulted in the filing of the SAPD's *Ex Parte* Notice. Rather, as explained by the court, "Instead of being forthcoming and candid with the Court about the facts in this case, the SAPD has chosen to alert the Court to the vague possibility of some unnamed conflict, hire outside counsel on the conflict issue only, and defer all questions to Mr. Benjamin even though he represents the Petitioner and not the SAPD." (R., pp.1373-74.) As the court recognized, "its duty to conduct a thorough and searching inquiry would [not] be satisfied in this case by simply accepting the opinions of

counsel regarding whether a conflict exists without any disclosure of the factual basis for that opinion" because the court "is presently lacking the factual background necessary to reach any conclusion." (R., p.1374.)

Because the district court has an independent duty to conduct its own thorough and searching inquiry regarding the possibility of a conflict of interest first raised in the SAPD's *Ex Parte* Notice, Hall has failed to establish the court erred by appointing Roark to assist the court in conducting that inquiry.

#### II.

## Because It Was Not Raised Before The District Court, Hall Has Waived His Separation Of Powers Claim

A. <u>Introduction</u>

Hall contends the district court's order requiring the SAPD to pay for Roark's services violates the separation of powers doctrine of art. II, § 1, of the Idaho Constitution. (Brief, pp.16-25.)

While Hall challenged the district court's authority to require the SAPD to pay for Roark's services, the argument was never couched in the context of a separation of powers violation. Indeed, with the exception of art. VII, § 13 (R., pp.1408-09), Idaho's Constitution was never cited to the district court, let alone art. II, § 1 of the Idaho Constitution. Because Hall never raised this argument in the court below, providing the district court with an opportunity to rule upon this issue, it has been waived on appeal. Even if the issue was properly raised, because I.C. § 19-871 merely requires the SAPD to pay for the services of conflict counsel and does not prohibit the district court from making an appropriate appointment, Hall's claim fails.

## B. <u>Hall's Separation Of Powers Claim Was Waived Because It Was Not Raised</u> Before The District Court

It is well settled that constitutional issues will not be considered when raised for the first time on appeal. <u>State v. Ransom</u>, 137 Idaho 560, 565, 50 P.3d 1055 (Ct. App. 2002) (citing <u>State v. Fodge</u>, 121 Idaho 192, 195, 824 P.2d 123, 126 (1992); <u>State v.</u> <u>Rozajewski</u>, 130 Idaho 644, 645, 945 P.2d 1390, 1391 (Ct. App. 1997)). Furthermore, failure to raise an issue in the district court, thereby denying the trial court the opportunity to rule on the alleged error, constitutes waiver of that issue on appeal. <u>State v. Martin</u>, 119 Idaho 577, 579, 808 P.2d 1322 (1991); <u>State v. Mauro</u>, 121 Idaho 178, 181, 824 P.2d 109 (1991); <u>State v. Smith</u>, 130 Idaho 450, 454, 942 P.2d 574 (Ct. App. 1997). The Idaho Supreme Court has expressly applied this fundamental appellate doctrine to claims based upon the separation of powers doctrine. <u>Fodge</u>, 121 Idaho at 195. Likewise it has been applied to other constitutional challenges. <u>Ransom</u>, 137 Idaho at 565; <u>State v. Hardman</u>, 120 Idaho 667, 672, 818 P.2d 782 (Ct. App. 1991).

Absent a timely objection, the appellate courts of this state will only review an alleged error under the fundamental error doctrine. <u>State v. Perry</u>, 150 Idaho 209, ---, 245 P.3d 961, 979 (2010). Review under the fundamental error doctrine requires Hall demonstrate the error he alleges: "(1) violates one or more of [his] unwaived constitutional rights; (2) plainly exists (without the need for any additional information not contained in the appellate record, including information as to whether the failure to object was a tactical decision); and (3) was not harmless." <u>Id.</u> at 980.

Hall's separation of powers claim fails because, not only has he failed to argue fundamental error, the first prong of <u>Perry</u> cannot be met since his claim is not alleged to have violated federal constitutional rights, but is a challenge under Idaho's constitution.

23

## C. <u>Standard Of Review</u>

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